
 

General Purposes Committee

Monday 26 March 2018 at 6.00 pm
Board Room 2 - Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, 
Wembley HA9 0FJ

Membership:

Members Substitute Members
Councillors: Councillors:
Butt (Chair)
McLennan (Vice-Chair)
Farah
Hirani
M Patel
Southwood
Tatler
Warren

Aden, Denselow, Kabir, Mahmood, Miller, Moher and 
Krupa Sheth

 Councillors:
 Maurice and Ms Shaw

For further information contact: Nikolay Manov, Governance Officer
Tel: 020 8937 1348, Email: nikolay.manov@brent.gov.uk

For electronic copies of minutes, reports and agendas, and to be alerted when the 
minutes of this meeting have been published visit:

democracy.brent.gov.uk

The press and public are welcome to attend this meeting.



2

Notes for Members - Declarations of Interest:
If a Member is aware they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business, 
they must declare its existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes 
apparent and must leave the room without participating in discussion of the item. 
If a Member is aware they have a Personal Interest** in an item of business, they must 
declare its existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent.
If the Personal Interest is also a Prejudicial Interest (i.e. it affects a financial position or 
relates to determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission, or registration) then 
(unless an exception at 14(2) of the Members Code applies), after  disclosing the interest to 
the meeting the Member must leave the room without participating in discussion of the item, 
except that they may first make representations, answer questions or give evidence relating 
to the matter, provided that the public are allowed to attend the meeting for those purposes.

*Disclosable Pecuniary Interests:
(a) Employment, etc. - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 

for profit gain.
(b) Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect expenses in 

carrying out duties as a member, or of election; including from a trade union. 
(c) Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between the 

Councillors or their partner (or a body in which one has a beneficial interest) and the 
council.

(d) Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area.
(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or longer.
(f) Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in which the 

Councillor or their partner have a beneficial interest.
(g) Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place of 

business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the securities 
exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body or of 
any one class of its issued share capital.

**Personal Interests:
The business relates to or affects:
(a) Anybody of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management, 
and:

 To which you are appointed by the council;
 which exercises functions of a public nature;
 which is directed is to charitable purposes;
 whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion or policy (including a 

political party of trade union).
(b) The interests a of a person from whom you have received gifts or hospitality of at least 

£50 as a member in the municipal year; 
or
A decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting, to a 
greater extent than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the 
electoral ward affected by the decision, the well-being or financial position of:

 You yourself;
 a member of your family or your friend or any person with whom you have a close 

association or any person or body who employs or has appointed any of these or in 
whom they have a beneficial interest in a class of securities exceeding the nominal 
value of £25,000, or any firm in which they are a partner, or any company of which 
they are a director

 any body of a type described in (a) above



3

Agenda
Introductions, if appropriate.

Item Page

1 Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members 

2 Declarations of interests 
Members are invited to declare at this stage of the meeting, the nature 
and existence of any relevant disclosable pecuniary, personal or 
prejudicial interests in the items on this agenda and to specify the item(s) 
to which they relate.

3 Deputations (if any)
To hear any deputations received from members of the public in 
accordance with Standing Order 67. 

4 Minutes of the previous meeting 1 - 4
To approve the minutes of the previous meeting held on Monday 29 
January 2018 as a correct record.

5 Matters arising (if any) 
To consider any matters arising from the minutes of the previous 
meeting. 

6 Employee Performance Management Policy and Procedure 
This report recommends changes to the Capability Policy and Procedure 
which is proposed to be renamed into Employee Performance 
Management Policy. The report seeks the approval of the Employee 
Performance Management Policy which has been set out in Appendix A.

Wards Affected: 
All Wards

Contact Officer: Debra Norman, 
Director of Legal and HR
Email: debra.norman@brent.gov.uk 
Tel: 020 8937 1578

7 Stopping Up Order - Church End 
To follow.

8 Appointments to Sub-Committees / Outside Bodies (if any)

mailto:debra.norman@brent.gov.uk


4

9 Any other urgent business 
Notice of items to be raised under this heading must be given in writing to 
the Head of Executive and Member Services or his representative before 
the meeting in accordance with Standing Order 60.

 Please remember to set your mobile phone to silent during the meeting.
 The meeting room is accessible by lift and seats will be provided for 

members of the public.



LONDON BOROUGH OF BRENT

MINUTES OF THE GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE
Held on Monday 29 January 2018 at 6.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor Butt (Chair) and Councillors McLennan (Vice-Chair), Farah, Hirani, 
M Patel, Southwood and Tatler

1. Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members 

Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillor Warren.

2. Declarations of interests 

There were no declarations of interest received from Members.

3. Deputations (if any) 

There were no deputations received.

4. Minutes of the previous meeting 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the previous meeting, held on 6 December 2017, 
be approved as an accurate record of the meeting.

5. Matters arising (if any) 

There were no matters arising.

6. Review of Polling Places 2018 

Thomas Cattermole (the Council’s Head of Executive and Member Services) 
introduced the report which outlined the polling station arrangements that had been 
put in place for the Local Elections on 3 May 2018. Mr Cattermole explained that all 
local authorities had to review their polling districts and polling places at least once 
every five years, but it was normal practice to carry out a non-statutory review of 
polling places across the Borough prior to any election. The last time this had taken 
place was in May 2017 prior to the General Election in June 2017 and polling 
stations would remain the same as they were then, with the exception of the 
stations listed in section 2.1 of the report (page 6 to the Agenda pack). 

In response to Members’ questions related to polling station CTO1 (Tokyngton 
ward), Mr Cattermole explained that all options had been examined and there had 
been a very little difference in the average walking distance to the place where the 
hut outside Amex House used to be and the proposed new location at the Yellow 
Pavilion on Engineers Way.  



2
General Purposes Committee - 29 January 2018

Members asked if it could be possible voters registered at Northwick Park Hospital 
and the University of Westminster Campus (currently voting at polling station 
NNP3) to be redirected to vote at polling station NNP1 as it would be easier for 
them to access it. Mr Cattermole said that the Elections Team would look at the 
suggestion and assess its feasibility. Results would be reported back to Members 
via email. 

The next statutory review of polling districts and polling places would take place in 
October 2018.

RESOLVED that:     
(i) The contents of the Review of Polling Places 2018 report, be noted; 

(ii) The polling stations listed below be adopted as polling stations for the 
Local Elections on 3 May 2018:

 NAL1: Lyon Park Infant School: use of nursery on Mount 
Pleasant Road instead of the main school.

 NAL2: Change from Alperton Community School back to 
Alperton Baptist Church, Ealing Road, HA0 4BY.

 CDU1 and CDU2: Use the main building in St 
Catherine’s Church, Dudden Hill Lane, NW10 1QB.

 HKI4: Replace the OK Club with The Carlton Centre, 
Granville Road, NW6 5RA.

 CTO1: Replace the hut outside Amex House on North 
End Road with The Yellow Pavilion, Engineers Way, 
HA9 0EG.

 CTO4: Change from Oakington Manor Primary School 
back to St Michael’s Church Hall, Babington Rise HA9 
6SN.  

 NKE4: Remain in Harrow District Masonic Centre, 
Northwick Circle, Harrow, HA3 0EL.

(iii) The suggestion to co-locate polling station NNP3 to the venue used 
for polling station NNP1 instead of Byron Court Primary School be 
considered by the Elections Team, with results communicated to the 
Committee via email. 

(iv) All other polling stations remain unchanged for this poll and until and 
the next statutory review of polling districts and polling places in 
October 2018.



3
General Purposes Committee - 29 January 2018

(v) In the event of any other polling places becoming unavailable before 
the June 2017 election, authority be delegated to the Chief Executive 
and the Returning Officer to make any further changes required to 
polling places for the 3 May Local Elections.

7. Appointments to Sub-Committees / Outside Bodies 

There were no appointments made to Sub-Committees and Outside Bodies.

8. Any other urgent business 

There were no other items of urgent business.

The meeting closed at 6.07 pm

COUNCILLOR MUHAMMED BUTT
Chair





General Purposes Committee
26 March 2018  

Report from the Director of Legal and 
HR Services

Cover Report: Employee Performance Management Policy and 
Procedure

Wards Affected: All 
Key or Non-Key Decision: Non-Key
Open or Part/Fully Exempt:
(If exempt, please highlight relevant paragraph of Part 
1, Schedule 12A of 1972 Local Government Act)

Open

No. of Appendices:
One: 
 Employee Performance Management Policy and 

Procedure
Background Papers: None

Contact Officer(s):
(Name, Title, Contact Details)

Debra Norman
Director of Legal and HR Services
Email: debra.norman@brent.gov.uk
Tel: 020 8937 1578

1.0. Purpose of the Report

1.1. The Council’s Capability Policy and Procedure was last reviewed in April 2014.  
As part of a regular review of HR policies, it was recognised that the policy 
was not widely used, one of the reasons being that it takes a long time for an 
employee to be taken through it.   

1.2. This report recommends changes to the Capability Policy and Procedure. It is 
proposed to rename it to Employee Performance Management Policy. It is 
expected, through application of the relevant Council policies (including this 
one) that performance management will come to be seen as part of day-to-
day management, with additional support and guidance provided for 
employees who are having difficulty in fulfilling the duties of their role, rather 
than as a punitive process.   

2.0. Recommendation

2.1. To approve the Employee Performance Management Policy set out in 

mailto:debra.norman@brent.gov.uk


Appendix A.

3.0. Detail

3.1. The Employee Performance Management Policy has been through extensive 
consultation with comments sought from HR DMT, HR Advisers, Legal, Trade 
Unions and the HR Consultation group (Heads of Service) to ensure that all 
stakeholders had an opportunity to comment on those aspects of the policy 
which they felt were not working effectively.  

3.2. As a result of this extensive review, it is expected that there will be a common 
understanding with consistent application and advice given on the application 
of the policy. A training workshop is being developed, together with a suite of 
template letters for use by managers in addressing performance issues, to 
accompany the relaunch of the policy.

3.3. There is a strong emphasis in the revised policy on the role of managers to 
monitor and manage the performance of their staff as part of their day-to-day 
management responsibilities and the benefits that good performance 
management can have for the employee and the Council. This should begin 
when the employee joins the Council with corporate and departmental 
induction, initial objective setting, supervision, one to one meetings and 
appropriate training and development. This should continue throughout the 
employee’s employment with Brent.  

3.4 The Employee Performance Management Policy addresses the issues to be 
considered when an individual is struggling to fulfil the duties of their role 
primarily as a result of a lack of knowledge or skills. The management of under-
performance requires commitment from both the employee and the line 
manager.  

3.5 In addition to the emphasis on performance management being a continuous 
process, the revised policy removes what is currently described as the informal 
stage in the Capability Policy. Managers are expected to work with employees 
to address issues as they arise through one-to-one support meetings. If they 
have worked through the problems informally in this way and the employee is 
still unable to meet the required standards, the Employee Performance 
Management Policy introduces a two stage formal review process. 

3.6. Stage 1 is designed to set out formally where the employee is failing to perform 
and put in place an improvement plan setting out the issues giving cause for 
concern, both the employee’s and the manager’s responsibilities in addressing 
those concerns, expected outcomes and timescales. 

3.7. Employees who are unable to improve their performance to the required level 
following a Stage 1 meeting will be escalated to Stage 2, at which point 
consideration will be given to whether there is the potential for improvement if 
a longer timescale were to be allowed, whether demotion or redeployment may 
be appropriate or if the employee’s employment should be terminated on the 
grounds of lack of capability.

4.0. Financial Implications

4.1. There are no direct financial implications.



5.0. Legal Implications

5.1. The policy cross references relevant Council policies and Codes of Practice, 
which should be taken into consideration when addressing under-
performance. By following the steps outlined in the policy, any dismissal on 
the grounds of capability should be defensible in the case of legal challenge.

6.0. Diversity Implications

6.1. The public sector equality duty, as set out in section 149 of the Equality Act 
2010, requires the Council, when exercising its functions, to have “due regard” 
to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited under the Act, to advance equality of opportunity and 
foster good relations between those who have a “protected characteristic” and 
those who do not share that protected characteristic. The protected 
characteristics are: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual 
orientation.

6.2. Having due regard involves the need to enquire into whether and how a 
proposed decision disproportionately affects people with a protected 
characteristic and the need to consider taking steps to meet the needs of 
persons who share a protected characteristic that are different from the needs 
of persons who do not share it. This includes removing or minimising 
disadvantages suffered by persons who share a protected characteristic that 
are connected to that characteristic.  

6.3. The policy contained in Appendix A incorporates actions to comply with the 
requirements of the Equality Act 2010. In particular managers are required to 
take advice from Human Resources if any of the protected characteristics are 
impacting on performance issues.

Report sign off:

DEBRA NORMAN
Director of Legal and HR Services





APPENDIX A

HR Policy
Employee Performance Management Policy and Procedure
[                            ] 2018

Human Resources



APPENDIX A

Employee Performance Management Policy and 
Procedures

Section Page No
1. Introduction................................................................................................................... 2
2. Our approach................................................................................................................  2
3. Policy statement...........................................................................................................................................................  3

3.1 Policy summary..................................................................................................  3
4. Definitions and general information............................................................................... 3

4.1 Scope of the policy............................................................................................. 3
4.2 Managing capability policy.................................................................................... 3
4.3 Contractual notice .............................................................................................. 4
4.4 Confidentiality .................................................................................................... 4
4.5 Records retention ............................................................................................... 4
4.6 Correspondence................................................................................................. 4
4.7 Qualifications and compliance issues .................................................................  4
4.8 Immediate action................................................................................................  5
4.9 Alternative employment ......................................................................................  5
4.10  Review meetings ..............................................................................................  5

5. Action involving trades union representatives  ..............................................................  6
6. Roles and responsibilities...............................................................................................  6

6.1 Employees...........................................................................................................  6
6.2 Line managers  .................................................................................................. 6
6.3 Directors, Operational Directors and Service Heads ..........................................  6
6.4 Human Resources  .............................................................................................   7
6.5 Representation................................................................................................... 7

7. Monitoring and review......................................................................................................  7
8. Timescales  .................................................................................................................... 7
9. Records of interviews, meetings and hearings .............................................................. 7

Employee Performance Management Procedure ………………………………………  8

1. Formal Action  ............................................................................................................... 8
1.1 Stage 1.......................................................................................................... 8
1.2 Stage 2  .........................................................................................................  9

2. Appeals.............................................................................................................................................. 10



APPENDIX A

2

1.    Introduction

Brent Council is committed to providing our customers and colleagues with the highest level of 
service. The performance of our staff is key to ensuring the high standards we expect to 
deliver and managers are expected to proactively monitor and manage the performance of 
staff to maintain these high standards.

This policy does not provide guidance to managers about how to conduct appraisals or one to 
one supervisions.  Specific guidance exists for managers to assist them with both: “A 
manager’s guide to conducting appraisals” and “One to One Discussions: Supervisions 
Guidance”, to which managers should refer. 

The primary aim of this procedure is to provide a framework within which managers can work 
with employees to maintain satisfactory performance standards and to encourage 
improvement where necessary. It applies to all employees regardless of length of service. It 
does not apply to agency workers or self-employed contractors. The policy does not apply to 
school based staff where the school has a delegated budget.

2.    Our approach

Managing the performance of employees is a continuous two way process. It involves making 
sure that employee performance contributes to both team goals and those of the business as 
a whole. The aim is to continuously improve the performance of individuals and that of the 
organisation. 

Good performance management helps everyone in the organisation to know: 

 what the business is trying to achieve 

 their role in helping the business achieve its goals 

 the skills and competences they need to fulfil their role 

 the standards of performance required 

 how they can develop their performance and contribute to the development of the 
organisation 

 how they are doing 

 when there are performance problems and what to do about them.

Managing performance is central to the relationship between managers and employees and 
can be a key element of good communication, contributing to the growth of trust and personal 
development. Managing performance is key to how well employees will be engaged in their 
work and how well they will perform.

  
An engaged employee is someone who: 

 takes pride in their job and shows loyalty towards their line manager, team and 
organisation 

 goes the extra mile – particularly in areas like customer service, or where employees 
need to be creative, responsive or adaptable.

Employees are expected to perform their duties and responsibilities to the standards agreed 
with their manager, and to be supported and assisted in achieving these standards by their 
manager.



APPENDIX A

3

The management of performance starts with the induction process when an employee joins 
the Council, moving through the probationary period, regular 1-1s/supervision, formal appraisal 
and relevant personal and professional development.

In the vast majority of cases, employees are motivated and committed to fulfilling their duties 
to the required standard, but the Employee Performance Management Policy provides a fair and 
coherent approach when employees are struggling to reach and maintain the required levels 
of performance,  with  guidance  on  best  management  practice  and  how  to  seek solutions 
to the issues raised. Throughout the process emphasis is placed on a two way framework of 
support and regular feedback, addressing under-performance quickly and setting clear goals 
and targets. Performance improvement should be achieved through regular supervision, one 
to one meetings, coaching, mentoring, training and development.

3.    Policy statement

3.1   Policy summary

Brent’s Employee Performance Management Policy forms part of the council’s performance 
management framework.

Every effort will be made by managers to resolve performance issues informally.  However, 
where informal action does not achieve the required improvement formal action must be taken.

The policy is designed to work in conjunction with other Council policies, procedures and 
guidance including Attendance Management Policy and Procedure, Guidance for line 
managers: Reasonable adjustments for employees with a disability or health condition, One to 
One Discussions (Supervision), A Manager’s Guide to Conducting Appraisals, Disciplinary 
Policy and Procedure, Grievance Policy  and  Procedure, Code of Practice on the English 
language requirements for public sector workers  and the Brent Council Code of Conduct.  
Advice should be taken from Human Resources when dealing with performance issues which 
are impacted on by any of the above policies or the protected characteristics of: age, disability, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief, gender, sexual orientation.

Managers should take primary responsibility for the effective implementation of this policy 
across the council. They are also responsible for managing the equality impact of the policy 
and preventing adverse impact on any particular groups of employees wherever possible.

This policy is non contractual.  Legal representation is not permitted at any stage of the 
procedure.

4.    Definitions and general information

4.1   Scope of the policy

The policy applies to all employees of the council with the exception of:
 Employees in their probationary period. Poor performance during the probationary 

period should be handled under the council’s Probationary Procedure
 School based staff where the school has a delegated budget
 Agency workers, who are not employees of the council. Any capability issues 

should be addressed with the employing agency.

file://cslsrv02.brent.gov.uk/People_Development/HR_Strategy/HR%20Policies/Web%20Documents%20-%20MASTER/Polices_Procedures/My%20Documents/Attendance%20management%20Procedure%20July09.doc
file://cslsrv02.brent.gov.uk/People_Development/HR_Strategy/HR%20Policies/Web%20Documents%20-%20MASTER/Polices_Procedures/My%20Documents/Downloads/Discipline%20Policy%20and%20Procedure%20100909.doc
file://cslsrv02.brent.gov.uk/People_Development/HR_Strategy/HR%20Policies/Web%20Documents%20-%20MASTER/Polices_Procedures/My%20Documents/Downloads/Discipline%20Policy%20and%20Procedure%20100909.doc
file://cslsrv02.brent.gov.uk/People_Development/HR_Strategy/HR%20Policies/Web%20Documents%20-%20MASTER/Polices_Procedures/My%20Documents/Fairness%20At%20Work%20Policy%20Sept%202008.docx


APPENDIX A

4

4.2   Employee performance management policy

A performance management system will help managers regularly review performance and 
identify problems early on. In most cases action can be agreed between the manager and 
employee to remedy any problems at the earliest opportunity. 

Support and coaching by managers will help employees understand possible options for 
improving performance and take the necessary action. Under-performance may have a variety 
of causes and some of them may be outside the individual employee’s control. It is therefore 
important to discuss any problems carefully with employees so that practical solutions can be 
agreed. 

This policy explains the general principles managers and employees should adopt to support a 
culture of high performance, but also outlines actions to be taken where an employee is unable 
to undertake and perform tasks to the required standard. This is different from the employee 
being capable of carrying out the tasks but choosing not to, which would be considered as a 
matter of misconduct and may be subject to action under the disciplinary policy.

Any disagreement between the manager and the employee concerning the interpretation of 
the policy should be referred in the first instance to the Senior HR Adviser.

Deferral of this policy will be by exception as advised by a Senior HR Adviser.

4.3   Contractual notice

An  employee  who  is  dismissed  from  the  Council’s  service following application of this 
policy  will  normally  be  entitled  to contractual notice which may be paid in lieu.  Where the 
employee is required to work their notice period, they will continue to be bound by the terms of 
their employment contract during the notice period. As such they will be expected to attend 
work, other than in periods of authorised absence, and to carry out reasonable management 
instructions, as a condition of their continued payment during the notice period.
 
4.4   Confidentiality

Confidentiality will be maintained at all times during the performance management process.  
This applies to all correspondence, reports and other documentation.  Circulation of information 
will be that which is necessary to ensure a fair process.

4.5   Records retention

Records must be kept detailing action taken in relation to the Employee Performance 
Management Policy and will be retained on the employee’s personal file.  These will include:

 The nature of the underperformance
 Action taken and the reasons for it
 Whether an appeal was lodged, and its outcome
 Any subsequent developments

4.6   Correspondence

All correspondence with employees subject to the Employee Performance Management Policy, 
including letters convening meetings/hearings, documentary evidence and decisions of hearings 
will be sent by email, with a copy by recorded delivery.  



APPENDIX A

5

4.7   Qualifications and compliance issues

For certain occupations there is a requirement for an employee to hold a specific regulatory 
classification and/or to maintain a certain standard in order to carry out their job, e.g. 
registration with a professional organisation. Formal action under this policy may have 
implications for such an employee’s membership of a professional organisation and/or their 
ability to continue to carry out the job.

If the employee’s continued fulfilment of their job would be compromised, the manager must 
seek the advice of a Senior HR Adviser.

If the employee is registered with a statutory body, such as the Health and Care Professionals 
Council (HCPC), serious underperformance issues may need to be reported whilst steps are 
being taken to improve performance.  This will not preclude matters from being dealt with 
internally as normal.  However, if registration is withdrawn by external regulators, the case will 
need to be reviewed in order to assess the impact on the individual’s ability to continue to do 
their job.

Where qualification and/or compliance issues may be involved, the relevant Operational 
Director must be consulted before formal action commences.

4.8   Immediate action

There  may  be  occasions  where  an  employee’s  level  of  under-performance  exposes  the 
council to significant risk if the underperformance continues and immediate  action is therefore 
necessary. There may be other circumstances which may also warrant prompt action, e.g. an 
employee refuses to accept that there is a problem with their performance, and refuses to co-
operate with attempts to achieve an improvement, or where the employee is grossly 
incompetent.  In such instances, a decision may be made to proceed directly to Stage 2 of the 
policy without taking action under Stage 1. Consideration should also be given as to whether 
the employee’s action constitutes potential misconduct, which may justify suspension from 
duty and action under the disciplinary policy.  In such circumstances advice should be sought 
from the HR Manager before any action is taken.

4.9   Alternative employment

Where an employee has been unable to improve or sustain an improvement in their 
performance, consideration will be given at the Stage 2 meeting to redeployment as an 
alternative to dismissal. This may  include  looking  for  jobs  requiring  different  skills  which 
 are  compatible  with  those possessed by the employee, or for less responsible jobs and the 
employee will be placed on the redeployment register to facilitate the search. 

Any offer of alternative employment will be made in writing, setting out why the offer is being 
made and the consequences of refusing the offer. The employee should be given at least 
seven working days’ notice to consider the offer and discuss it with their representative.

Any offer of alternative employment will be made on a salary equivalent to the rate for the new 
job.  Where the grade of the job being offered is lower, the starting salary will be calculated to 
take into account years of service served at that or a higher grade, but no pay protection will 
apply.

Where an employee is employed in a post which includes linked grades, consideration will be 
given to returning the employee to a lower grade within the same role, if appropriate.

If the employee does not wish to be considered for this option, dismissal may be the only 



APPENDIX A

6

remaining outcome.

4.10 Review meetings

Performance Review meetings provide the opportunity to set and revise targets, review 
progress, provide feedback and consider any other action that may be required.

Where early intervention and good management practice through the normal channels does 
not achieve the required improvement in performance, or the under-performance is more 
serious, the manager must proceed to the next stage (i.e. first formal stage or first formal stage 
to second formal stage).

5.    Action involving trade union representatives

Where concerns about performance involve an employee who is a representative of a 
recognised trade union, the manager should seek the employee’s consent for the matter to be 
discussed at an early stage with an official employed by the relevant trade union.    The HR 
Manager should also be notified as soon as possible about cases involving trade union 
representatives and will advise if any other action is required. This should not delay managers 
taking the appropriate steps in the normal way under this policy.

6.    Roles and responsibilities

6.1   Employees

Employees are expected to perform their duties at a satisfactory level and to be committed to 
achieving and maintaining such levels of performance.  If they have any concerns about their 
ability to fulfil their duties, employees should discuss these with their manager and co-operate 
with any plans agreed to improve the standard of their work.

6.2   Line managers

The person who can get the best out of individuals and teams is usually their line manager, who 
works closest to them.   Line managers are best placed to talk to employees, to listen to their 
concerns, to counsel and coach them, to check they meet their targets and to ensure they are 
committed to the business. The success of a performance management system rests largely on 
line managers. They can help to link business goals with employee performance by putting them 
into the context of employees’ work. 
Line managers: 

 agree objectives, competencies and development needs with individuals so 
that they contribute to business goals 

 hold an annual appraisal review with the employee and review individual 
performance against objectives and competencies throughout the year 

 give feedback and discuss amendments to individual objectives as circumstances 
change 

 agree the most important skills and behaviours necessary to do the job well and agree 
a personal development plan 

 help staff to achieve objectives through coaching and provide access to training or 
other development opportunities 

 manage under-performance 

Where employees do not meet expectations, line managers are required to implement the 
employee performance management procedures fairly and consistently and ensure  that  any  



APPENDIX A

7

concerns  about  performance  are addressed promptly and within the timeframes outlined in 
the procedure.

6.3   Directors, Operational Directors and Service Heads

Directors, Operational Directors  and  Service  Heads have a responsibility to set the strategic 
direction and promote a culture of high performance.  

Directors, Operational Directors or Service Heads also have authority to dismiss employees 
and hear appeals against dismissal. They should be at the same level of seniority or at a higher 
level than the manager who took the decision to dismiss.

6.4   Human Resources

Human Resources provide advice and support and will attend all Stage Two meetings and 
appeal hearings.

6.5   Representation

Employees have the right to advice and guidance at any formal stage in this procedure. 
Employees also have the right to be represented and/or accompanied by either:
 A trade union representative
 A work colleague (a person who is a Brent council worker) but not a legal representative.

It is the employee’s responsibility to organise representation on the relevant date.  However, 
as far as possible, employees and their representatives will be consulted on the timing of 
meetings/hearings.

The representative can put forward a case on behalf of the employee and can give advice and 
support during the process. The representative cannot, however, answer questions for the 
employee.   The employee must at all stages respond to questions asked during a meeting 
held under this procedure.

7.   Monitoring and review

Application of the policy and decisions taken on performance management matters will be 
monitored to ensure consistency and fairness.

This policy will be reviewed as necessary to take account of legislative changes, operational 
experience and best practice.  Any changes to the policy will be undertaken following 
consultation with the recognised Trade Unions.

8.   Timescales

All parties involved in the proceedings have an obligation to co-operate in ensuring that 
processes and timescales set out in this policy are followed.   The only exception to this is 
where the outcome of a case would otherwise be prejudiced. Managers should discuss any 
variations to the timescale with a Senior HR Adviser and inform their manager before taking 
any action.

9.   Records of interviews, meetings and hearings

A written record of all interviews and hearings must be made.  It will not be a verbatim record but 



APPENDIX A

8

will accurately reflect all of the issues raised at the interview/hearing and the actions required to 
rectify performance in line with the requirements and standards for the job.

The manager is responsible for producing the record and, if necessary, may arrange for a note 
taker.  Any dispute about the accuracy of the summary will be resolved by the manager with 
the individual employee. If the employee disagrees with the record of the meeting, they can 
ask for their comments to be noted for future reference.



APPENDIX A

9

Employee Performance Management Procedure

1 Formal Action

Where a manager is contemplating instigating formal performance management processes, 
they must first contact a Senior HR Adviser to discuss the actions taken to date in relation to 
objective and/or standard setting, coaching, training and development or other actions relevant 
to the concerns about the employee’s performance. Such actions can vary depending on the 
nature of the role, but could for example include providing additional training, allowing an 
employee to shadow another member of staff, providing them with a mentor. If it is agreed that 
the actions taken up to this point were appropriate but have not resulted in the required level 
of improvement, the formal performance management procedure should be initiated.
 
1.1   Stage 1

A meeting between the employee and the manager will be held.  The manager will write to the 
employee setting out:

 The requirement to attend a performance review meeting giving seven working 
days’ notice

 Date, time and venue of the meeting
 Concerns about performance which have triggered the need to convene a Stage 1 

meeting, based on the actions taken to date or highlighting any new concerns which 
may have arisen

 The right to be represented

The aims of the meeting are to:

 Review the previous actions taken
 Specify where performance continues to fall short of the standard required
 Agree a formal action plan, which sets targets for improvement, specifies support to be 

provided and identifies measures and the timescale against which performance will be 
assessed

 Warn the employee that their employment could be at risk if their performance does not 
improve

 Set a date for a further meeting to review progress against the performance targets set 
for improvement.   

The length of the review period will be dependent on the nature of the job but will 
normally be for between one and three months.  The manager and employee must meet 
regularly during the review period, weekly in the case of a one month plan and at least monthly 
in the case of a longer plan to assess progress against the plan.

There are three possible outcomes at the end of the review period:
 

1. Performance has improved to the required standard and no further action is required, 
other than to inform the employee of the need to sustain the level of improvement. The 
management of the employee’s performance will revert to normal regular supervision 
and one to ones.  If the employee is unable to maintain the required level of 
performance, this should be discussed with them as soon as possible to identify the 
reason for the deterioration.  Depending on the reason, a decision should be taken 



APPENDIX A

10

whether a further period of formal action is required at Stage 1 or whether it would be 
appropriate to progress to Stage 2.   Should the deterioration in performance take place 
after 12 months or more have elapsed, it is expected that any action required would be 
taken under Stage 1.  Any proposal to progress to Stage 2 would only be taken after 
discussion of the circumstances with HR.

2. Where an employee’s performance has not met the standard but there is evidence to 
show that a further period of monitoring and review is likely to achieve the standard, a 
decision may be taken to extend the initial review period for a further period of up to 
one month. The manager and employee will revise the action plan based on progress 
made, and the arrangements set out in the plan for monitoring and reviewing 
performance will be followed. This may include temporary adjustments to the role to 
enable the employee to focus on the specific aspects giving concern. 

3. If it is clear during, or at the end of, the review period (or extended review period) 
that the employee’s performance will not reach the required standard by the end 
of the period the manager should proceed to Stage Two.

The line manager will confirm the outcome of the meeting in writing within five working days of 
the verbal notification of the decision.  In all cases, the manager will confirm that a failure to 
maintain or improve performance could lead to Stage 2 of the procedure and potential 
dismissal.

There is no right of appeal against a Stage 1 outcome.

1.2 Stage 2

A Stage 2 meeting will be convened where there has been insufficient improvement at the end 
of Stage 1.  The meeting will be conducted by a manager who is authorised to dismiss, who has 
had no previous involvement in the case, advised by a Senior HR Adviser. The hearing manager 
will give the employee at least seven working days’ notice of the meeting.

The written notification will set out:

 The requirement to attend a Stage 2 meeting
 Date, time and venue of the meeting
 The manager’s continuing concerns about underperformance which have triggered the 

need to convene a Stage 2 meeting
 That a potential outcome of the Stage 2 meeting is dismissal
 The employee’s right to be represented

Any supporting evidence on which management or the employee may wish to rely at the meeting 
should be provided to the other party and to the hearing manager in advance of the meeting.

The aims of the meeting are to:

 Review performance and the action taken to achieve the required improvement
 Where improvement has been unacceptable, consider the reasons given for the lack of 

improvement 
 Consider whether the employee has demonstrated that, with further support, they are 

likely to achieve the required level of improvement 
 If so, review and, as appropriate, revise the action plan and determine the timescale for 

improvement and set a date for a further Stage 2 meeting
 Consider whether redeployment may be appropriate



APPENDIX A

11

 Determine whether to dismiss on the grounds of lack of capability

There are three possible outcomes at the end of Stage 2:

1. Where there is evidence to show that a further period of monitoring and review is likely 
to achieve the required standard, a decision may be taken to extend the review period 
for a further period of up to one month. The manager and employee will revise the 
action plan based on progress made, and the arrangements set out in the plan for 
monitoring and reviewing performance will be followed. 
NB At the end of a Stage 2 extended review period, if the employee’s 
performance has not met the required standard, a further Stage 2 meeting will be 
convened at which the hearing manager will take a decision to recommend 
redeployment or decide to dismiss on the grounds of lack of capability.

2. Consider whether redeployment may be appropriate and obtain the employee’s decision 
as to whether to pursue redeployment

3. Dismissal on the grounds of lack of capability and whether to issue notice or to pay in 
lieu of notice

The hearing manager will confirm the outcome of the meeting in writing within five working days.

Where the required level of improvement is achieved following the extended review period, the 
management of the employee’s performance will revert to normal regular supervision and 
one to ones.  If the employee is unable to maintain the required level of performance, this 
should be discussed with them as soon as possible to identify the reason for the deterioration.  
Depending on the reason, a decision should be taken whether a further period of formal 
monitoring is required followed by a further Stage 2 meeting.  Should the deterioration in 
performance take place after 24 months or more have elapsed, it is expected that any action 
required would be taken under Stage 1.  Any proposal to reconvene a Stage 2 meeting would 
only be taken after discussion of the circumstances with HR.

 
2.  Appeals

Any employee who is dissatisfied with a decision to dismiss on the grounds of capability has a 
right of appeal.  The Appeal Hearing Officer will be at the level of seniority of Strategic Director, 
Operational Director or Head of Service and will be at the same level of seniority or at a higher 
level than the manager who took the decision to dismiss, and will be the manager specified in 
the letter to the employee confirming the outcome of the hearing.  The Dismissing Manager will 
normally present the management case at the appeal hearing.   The appeal must be lodged 
within 10 working days of the date of the letter confirming the dismissal decision.

The appeal must be made in writing and must clearly and specifically state in detail the ground 
or grounds for appeal and the detailed basis for each ground of appeal relied on.  The ground(s) 
for appeal must fall within one or more of the following categories:

 There was a procedural irregularity which had a material effect on the dismissal decision
 The hearing officer came to a conclusion on a material point of fact which no reasonable 

person could have come to
 The decision to opt for dismissal rather than an alternative option was one that would 

not have been reached by any reasonable employer
 There is new evidence which the employee wishes to introduce for the first time at the 

appeal which could not reasonably have been raised at the original hearing and the 



APPENDIX A

12

absence of which had a material effect on the dismissal decision.

Where the letter of appeal does not provide the necessary information to allow it to be processed 
the Appeal Hearing Officer will write to the employee seeking clarification.

The Appeal Hearing Officer will arrange for the appeal to be heard as soon as reasonably 
practicable and at least 5 working days’ notice will be given.

The employee will have the right to be accompanied  by  a  work colleague or a trade union 
representative.  The meeting may be postponed by up to 5 working days to enable the 
employee’s chosen representative to attend.

Unless in cases of a procedurally flawed Stage 2 meeting, the appeal hearing will not constitute 
a full re-hearing of the case.   It will only address the specific grounds of appeal set out in the 
letter of appeal.  The Appeal Hearing Officer can refuse to consider any new evidence if they 
decide it is unreasonable for it to be raised for the first time at the appeal.

The Dismissing Manager and the employee will provide each other with any documents to be 
used by them and the names of any witnesses to be called by the third working day before the 
appeal hearing.

The Appeal Hearing Officer will chair the meeting, advised by a Human Resources 
representative. 

The Appeal Hearing Officer should make their decision based on whether the evidence supports 
or does not support one or more of the grounds for appeal specified above. The possible 
outcomes of an appeal hearing are as follows:

1. Uphold the original decision
2. Allow the appeal in its entirety
3. Reduce the severity of the management action/decide on an alternative option to 

dismissal

Where the Appeal Hearing Officer decides to uphold the appeal in the case of procedural flaw 
or new evidence they will have the discretion to refer the case back for a rehearing.  Where the 
case is referred back for a rehearing they will decide whether the case should be reheard by the 
same officer who originally heard the case or by a different hearing officer.

If the appeal is on the grounds of new evidence, referral to the original hearing officer will be for 
the consideration of the new evidence together with any of the original evidence which is 
relevant to the new evidence in order to reach a decision.

There is no further right of appeal.




	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Employee Performance Management Policy and Procedure
	06a. Employee Performance Management Policy and Procedure


